702463

No. 70296-3-I

0

PK

မာ က

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEPHEN HAFF,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The State presented insufficient evidence as a matter of law that the crime was committed "within" a bank, as required to support a conviction for first-degree robbery as charged.

2. The admission of Casey Montgomery's in-court identification of Mr. Haff as the perpetrator violated Mr. Haff's right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

3. The admission of Casey Montgomery's in-court identification of Mr. Haff as the perpetrator violated Mr. Haff's right to due process under article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Haff was charged with first-degree robbery under the alternative that the crime was committed "within and against a financial institution." The crime was committed against U.S. Bank, but not within a U.S. bank branch. Rather, it was committed within an Albertson's grocery store, where U.S. Bank had a counter. Did the State fail to prove first-degree robbery as charged, requiring reversal of the conviction and dismissal of the charge with prejudice?

2. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the admission of eyewitness identifications which are (1) obtained pursuant to impermissibly suggestive procedures and (2)

unreliable under the totality of circumstances. In this case, a teller was robbed in a 20-second span of time by a person with a hat pulled down over half of his face, and the teller's focus was on a note the robber gave him and on the cash drawer. A few days after the robbery, the teller could not select the perpetrator from a montage that included Mr. Haff's picture. Yet, a year and a half later, the teller was permitted to testify at trial that he was 100% certain that Mr. Haff – who was the only defendant in the courtroom – was the robber. Did the admission of this identification violate Mr. Haff's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process, requiring reversal of the conviction and remand for a new trial?

3. Article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution has been held to be more protective than the Fourteenth Amendment in prohibiting the introduction of unreliable evidence. Did the admission of the in-court identification described above violate Mr. Haff's right to due process under article I, section 3?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August of 2011 there was an Albertson's grocery store in Marysville with a U.S. Bank counter inside it.¹ RP (2/19/13) 145; ex. 4. On August 9, a tall, thin white man with a scruffy face wearing a North Face jacket and dark hat approached the counter and dropped a note in

¹ The store apparently does not exist anymore. RP (2/19/13) 145.

front of teller Casey Montgomery. RP (2/19/13) 146-47. Mr.

Montgomery looked down at the note and read it. RP (2/19/13) 147, 159.

The note said:

My partner is in the parking lot with a police radio. If you hit the alarm, he will know and start shooting. I am armed as well. You have 30 seconds to get me a hundred thousand dollars in \$100 bills. No marked bills, dye packs, or tracking devices. You can call the cops 5 minutes after I leave. If you call before then, my partner will know and start shooting. Give me this note back. Your time starts now!

RP (2/19/13) 135. The teller was scared and gave the person all of the

money from his top drawer, which amounted to around \$2,000. RP

(2/19/13) 147-49. The robber took the money and left. RP (2/19/13) 150.

The encounter lasted about 20 seconds. RP (2/19/13) 156.

Based on video surveillance and a thumbprint on the note, detectives suspected Stephen Haff of the crime. CP 113. A detective created a montage of six photographs, including Mr. Haff's, and showed it to Casey Montgomery on August 17, eight days after the robbery. RP (2/20/13) 303. Mr. Montgomery did not select anyone in the montage as the robber. RP (2/20/13) 304. Another teller who had been present that day, Tyson Farley, selected Mr. Haff from the montage. RP (2/20/13) 304. However, he was only 70% sure Mr. Haff was the perpetrator. RP (2/20/13) 308. The State charged Mr. Haff with first-degree robbery, alleging he committed the crime "within and against a bank." CP 114. For various reasons, including competency concerns and difficulty securing the presence of the other suspect, trial did not begin until a year and a half later. CP 82-87, 107-09.

At trial, Mr. Haff's defense was that his onetime friend and roommate, Daniel Aaron Stickney, was the actual perpetrator. Mr. Haff pointed out that Mr. Stickney had a motive to rob the bank because he had depleted his funds earned from fishing by buying drugs and partying. Mr. Stickney easily could have planted evidence including using paper with Mr. Haff's fingerprints and putting one of Mr. Haff's hairs in a hat that was suspiciously "discovered" on the Stickney property more than a year after the robbery. RP (2/19/13) 12-13, 128-33; RP (2/20/13) 218, 239-57, 274-75, 286-93; RP (2/21/13) 491-508.

Defense counsel pointed out that Mr. Haff and Mr. Stickney looked a lot alike and it was not clear from the surveillance videos and photographs who the perpetrator was. RP (2/21/13) 497. Mr. Stickney's family members, in contrast, claimed that the surveillance photographs showed that Mr. Haff was the perpetrator. RP (2/20/13) 215-16, 233.

Consistent with his statement shortly after the crime, teller Tyson Farley testified he was 70% sure Mr. Haff was the robber. RP (2/19/13)

175. Over Mr. Haff's objections, victim Casey Montgomery was permitted to testify that he was 100% certain Mr. Haff was the robber, even though a year and a half had passed since the event, Mr. Haff was the only defendant in the courtroom, and Mr. Montgomery did not select Mr. Haff from a montage eight days after the crime. RP (2/19/13) 154-58; CP 98.

The jury convicted Mr. Haff as charged, and he was sentenced to 48 months in prison. CP 6-8.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The State presented insufficient evidence to prove that the crime was committed "within" a bank, as required by RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b).

a. <u>Issues of statutory construction are reviewed *de novo*, and the plain language of the statute governs.</u>

The State bears the burden of proving each element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). A criminal defendant's fundamental right to due process is violated when a conviction is based upon insufficient evidence. *Id.*; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Const. art. I, § 3; *City of Seattle v. Slack*, 113 Wn.2d 850, 859, 784 P.2d 494 (1989). On appellate review, evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, "after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 628, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1970); *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). Where, as here, the sufficiency of the evidence turns on the meaning of a statute, it is a question of law this Court reviews *de novo. State v. Engel*, 166 Wn.2d 572, 576, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009).

"Statutes are construed as written." *State v. Chester*, 133 Wn.2d 15, 17, 940 P.2d 1374 (1997). Thus, in determining the meaning of a statute, courts look first to the text; if the statute is clear on its face, its meaning is to be derived from the language alone. *State v. Moeurn*, 170 Wn.2d 169, 174, 240 P.3d 1158 (2010). If the statute is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, "we may resort to statutory construction, legislative history, and relevant case law for assistance in discerning legislative intent." *State v. Ervin*, 169 Wn.2d 815, 820, 239 P.3d 354 (2010). Where a statute does not define its terms, the words are given their ordinary dictionary definition. *Chester*, 133 Wn.2d at 22.

Statutes may not be construed in a manner which renders words meaningless or superfluous. *Ervin*, 169 Wn.2d at 823. Furthermore, "[t]he court may not add language to a clear statute, even if it believes the

Legislature intended something else but failed to express it adequately."

Chester, 133 Wn.2d at 21.

Criminal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of the accused, because violations result in a serious deprivation of liberty. *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 601-02, 115 P.3d 281 (2005) (explaining and applying rule of lenity).

b. <u>Under the plain meaning of the word "within," the</u> crime at issue here was not committed within a financial institution, requiring reversal of the conviction and dismissal of the charge.

The State charged Mr. Haff with first-degree robbery in violation of RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b). CP 114. The statute provides, "A person is guilty of robbery in the first degree if [h]e or she commits a robbery within and against a financial institution as defined in RCW 7.88.010 or 35.38.060." RCW 9A.56.200(1)(b); *State v. Liden*, 138 Wn. App. 110, 117, 156 P.3d 259 (2007).

There is no dispute here that a robbery was committed *against* a financial institution. *See* RP (2/21/13) 469-70 (stipulating that U.S. Bank was a financial institution). But the statute demands more. The word "within" must not be rendered superfluous. The robbery at issue in this case occurred "within" an Albertson's grocery store, but it did not occur "within" U.S. Bank.

"Within" means "inside something." <u>http://www.merriam-</u> <u>webster.com/dictionary/within</u> (viewed 6/12/14). It is "used as a function word to indicate enclosure or containment." *Id.* Under this ordinary dictionary definition, the first-degree robbery statute does not apply to the events at issue in this case, and the State should have charged seconddegree robbery.

As the tellers testified and the exhibits showed, the U.S. Bank

branch at issue here was little more than a counter inside an Albertson's.

Exs. 4, 7, 8; RP (2/19/13) 144-45; RP (2/19/13) 161. The clearest

evidence of the layout was provided in video exhibit 4. The video has

been designated, but for the Court's convenience, the following are

representative screenshots:

Digital Video Snapshot

Site: Pacific Division/Northwest Region/WA/8252 North Marysville Albertsons Camera Group: 8252 North Marysville Albertsons Camera Name: 02 Tellers 1 and 2 8/9/2011 5:28:28 PM (Pacific Daylight Time)



<u>Digital Video Snapshot</u> Site: Pacific Division/Northwest Region/WA/8252 North Marysville Albertsons Camera Group: 8252 North Marysville Albertsons Camera Name: 02 Tellers 1 and 2 8/9/2011 5:29:43 PM (Pacific Daylight Time)



Although the teller described it as also having an office and a small vault, the robbery did not occur within those enclosed areas. RP (2/19/13) 145-50; ex. 4. Thus, as a matter of law the State failed to prove first-degree robbery as charged.

Engel is instructive. There, the defendant was charged with second-degree burglary, which required entering or remaining in a "building." *Engel*, 166 Wn.2d at 574 (citing RCW 9A.52.030). The statutory definition of building included "fenced area." *Id.* (citing RCW 9A.04.110(5)). One third of the property at issue in the case had a chain link fence with barbed wire and a locked gate. *Id.* The rest of the property was bordered by steep hills. *Id.* at 574-75.

The defendant argued that the property was not a "fenced area" under the statute because it was not "totally enclosed by a fence." *Engel*, 166 Wn.2d at 578. The State, in contrast, argued that "the common understanding of fenced area includes an area partially enclosed by a fence, where topography and other barriers combine with the fence to close off the area to the public." *Id.* The Supreme Court agreed with the defendant, noting that although "fenced area" was not defined in the statute, the dictionary defined "fence" as "to surround, separate, or delineate with ... a fence: [to] erect a fence around or along (as a field or boundary)." *Id.* at 579 n.5 (quoting Webster's Third New International

Dictionary 837 (2002)). The Court accordingly reversed the defendant's conviction for insufficiency of the evidence under a properly construed statute. *Id.* at 581.

This Court should do the same here. The robbery at issue was not committed "within" a financial institution as required to elevate the crime to robbery in the first degree. The remedy is reversal of the conviction and dismissal of the charge with prejudice. *Engel*, 166 Wn.2d at 581. The Court need not reach the alternative arguments below.

2. The trial court violated Mr. Haff's constitutional right to due process by admitting the teller's in-court identification of Mr. Haff as the perpetrator.

 a. <u>The teller could not identify the perpetrator in a</u> montage that included Mr. Haff, but was allowed to testify at trial that he was 100% certain that Mr. Haff, who was the only defendant in the courtroom, was the perpetrator.

A few days after the robbery, detectives showed photographic montages to both the teller who interacted with the robber, Casey Montgomery, and the other teller, Tyson Farley. RP (11/9/12) 4. There were six photographs in the montages, including one of Mr. Haff. Mr. Montgomery could not identify anyone in the montage as the robber. RP (11/9/12) 5-6; RP (2/19/13) 154. Mr. Farley selected the picture of Mr. Haff, and said he was 70% certain that Mr. Haff was the robber. RP (11/9/12) 6-7. He could not be 100% sure because the robber had worn a hat pulled down low. RP (2/19/13) 163; ex. 4.

Trial occurred a year and a half later. Before trial, Mr. Haff moved to suppress, *inter alia*, any in-court identification of Mr. Haff by Casey Montgomery.² CP 98. The trial court denied the motion. RP (11/9/12) 27. Thus, despite not having been able to identify Mr. Haff as the perpetrator in a photo montage shortly after the robbery, Mr. Montgomery was permitted to testify a year and a half later that Mr. Haff – who was the only person in the defendant's chair – was the robber. RP (2/19/13) 154-55, 157. He testified that he was "100% certain" that Mr. Haff was the perpetrator. RP (2/19/13) 157, 159.³

b. <u>The admission of the in-court identification violated</u> <u>Mr. Haff's right to due process under the Fourteenth</u> <u>Amendment</u>.

Courts have long recognized that eyewitness identifications are often unreliable. *United States v. Wade*, 388 U.S. 218, 228, 87 S.Ct. 1926,

² Counsel also moved to suppress both the photographic identification and in-court identification by the other teller, Mr. Farley. Mr. Haff is not challenging the denial of that motion on appeal, but is challenging the admission of Mr. Montgomery's in-court identification of Mr. Haff as the perpetrator.

 $^{^{3}}$ Mr. Farley testified, consistent with his interview shortly after the robbery, that he was only 70% sure that Mr. Haff was the robber. RP (2/19/13) 175.

18 L.Ed.2d 1149 (1967). "The identification of strangers is proverbially untrustworthy." *Id.* at 228.

Suggestive procedures increase the likelihood of misidentification. *Id.*; *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 199, 193 S.Ct. 357, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1975). A witness's recollection of a total stranger can be easily, and unintentionally, distorted by the circumstances. *Mason v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 112, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977). "[T]he dangers for the suspect are particularly grave when the witness's opportunity for observation was insubstantial and his susceptibility to suggestion is the greatest." *Wade*, 388 U.S. at 229.

An identification procedure violates the Fourteenth Amendment right to due process if it is "so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." *State v. Vickers*, 148 Wn.2d 91, 118, 59 P.3d 58 (2002); U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *see Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 114; *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199. Thus, an identification must be suppressed if (1) the identification procedure is impermissibly suggestive, and (2) the totality of the circumstances indicates that the identification is unreliable. *State v. Linares*, 98 Wn. App. 397, 401, 989 P.2d 591 (1999). Courts evaluate reliability by considering the following factors: (a) the opportunity of the witness to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime, (b) the witness's degree of

attention, (c) the accuracy of the prior description given by the witness, (d) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and (e) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199-200. A court must then weigh the corrupting effect of the suggestive identification itself against these factors. *Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 114.

With respect to the first prong of the test, "it is obviously suggestive to ask a witness to identify a perpetrator in the courtroom when it is clear who is the defendant." *United States v. Rogers*, 126 F.3d 655, 658 (5th Cir. 1997); *accord United States v. Archibald*, 734 F.2d 938, 941, 943 (2d Cir. 1984). "Any witness, especially one who has watched trials on television, can determine which of the individuals in the courtroom is the defendant, which is the defense lawyer, and which is the prosecutor." *Archibald*, 734 F.2d at 941. Thus, it is necessary to address the second prong: whether the identification is reliable despite suggestive procedures. *Rogers*, 126 F.3d at 658.⁴

⁴Although the suggestive procedure in the courtroom is not orchestrated by the police, it is still, of course, state action, and therefore the Fourteenth Amendment applies. *See Perry v. New Hampshire*, _____ U.S. ____, 132 S.Ct. 716, 727, 181 L.Ed.2d 694 (2012) (alternately discussing "police-designed lineups," identifications "compelled by the State," and "the manner in which the prosecution presents the suspect to witnesses"). *See also Shelley v. Kraemer*, 334 U.S. 1, 13-14, 68 S.Ct. 836, 92 L.Ed. 1161 (1948) (holding that enforcement of private racially

The first of the five factors to be considered under the second prong is "the opportunity of the witness to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime." *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199-200. In this case, the entire interaction lasted only about 20 seconds. RP (2/19/13) 156. Also, the perpetrator wore a hat pulled down, had "some sort of scruff on his face," and kept his head down. RP (2/19/13) 147, 159, 163. Thus, this factor cuts against reliability. *See Rogers*, 126 F.3d at 658 (concluding this factor cut against reliability under similar circumstances).

As to the second factor, "degree of attention," the teller's attention was diverted to the note and the cash drawer and away from the robber's face. RP (2/19/13) 147. He said, "I was more focused on the note and making sure that I was safe, so giving him the money." RP (2/19/13) 159. He was also understandably scared. RP (2/19/13) 148. Accordingly, the "degree of attention" factor also cuts against reliability. *See Rogers*, 126 F.3d at 659 (fear weighs against reliability under this factor).

The third factor is the accuracy of the prior description given by the witness. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199-200. It is not clear how Mr. Montgomery originally described the robber, as the affidavit of probable cause simply states "Witnesses described the robbery suspect as a 6'2"

restrictive covenants violated Fourteenth Amendment and constituted state action because of the involvement of the courts).

white male with dark brown hair wearing a blue hat and black jacket." CP 112. At trial, Mr. Montgomery described the robber as "wearing a dark hat, North Face Jacket, and kind of some scruff on his face, white." RP (2/19/13) 147. Other than the race, none of that description was true of Mr. Haff during trial. When prompted, Mr. Montgomery also said the robber was tall and slender. RP (2/19/13) 147. Mr. Haff was tall and of medium build. CP 115. Of course, the most notable fact relevant to this prong is that Mr. Montgomery did **not** choose Mr. Haff from a montage just a few days after the robbery. This prior determination that Mr. Haff was not the robber means the third factor cuts strongly against reliability.

Turning to the fourth factor, Mr. Montgomery's expressed level of certainty was 100%, and therefore under *Biggers* this factor cuts in favor of reliability. However, this factor should be given very little weight because intervening studies and cases recognize that there is no correlation between an eyewitness's level of certainty and the accuracy of the identification. *See, e.g., Brodes v. State*, 614 S.E.2d 766, 770-71 (Ga. 2005) (gathering cases); *State v. Long*, 721 P.2d 483, 490-91 (Utah 1986) (gathering scholarly articles). *See also State v. Lawson*, 352 Or. 724, 745, 291 P.3d 673 (Or. 2012) ("Under most circumstances, witness confidence or certainty is not a good indicator of identification accuracy"); *State v.*

Henderson, 27 A.3d 872, 889 (N.J. 2011) ("accuracy and confidence may not be related to one another at all.").

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