702463

16246-3

NO. 70296-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

STEPHEN A. HAFF,

Appellant.

2014 SEP -8 Hall: SI

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN J. JUHL Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

B. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE.

Sufficiency of the evidence is a question of constitutional magnitude which a defendant may raise for the first time on appeal. State v. Alvarez, 128 Wn.2d 1, 10, 904 P.2d 754 (1995); State v. Atterton, 81 Wn. App. 470, 472, 915 P.2d 535 (1996). When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the court determines whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Brockob, 159 Wn.2d 311, 336, 150 P.3d 59 (2006). All reasonable inferences are drawn in the prosecution's favor and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. State v. Hosier, 157 Wn.2d 1, 8, 133 P.3d 936 (2006); State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) ("A claim of insufficiency admits

the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom."). Circumstantial evidence and direct evidence are equally reliable. State v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). Evidence favoring the defendant is not considered. State v. Randecker, 79 Wn.2d 512, 521, 487 P.2d 1295 (1971) (negative effect of defendant's explanation on State's case not considered); State v. Jackson, 62 Wn. App. 53, 58 n. 2, 813 P.2d 156 (1991) (defense evidentiary inference cannot be used to attack sufficiency of evidence to convict). The court need not be convinced of the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; it is sufficient that substantial evidence supports the State's case. State v. Fiser, 99 Wn. App. 714, 718, 995 P.2d 107 (2000). Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and cannot be reviewed on State v. Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 appeal. (1990).The court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting credibility testimony, of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. State v. Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-416, 824 P.2d 533 (1992).

C. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED TO SUPPORT THE JURY FINDING BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT DEFENDANT COMMITTED THE ROBBERY WITHIN A FINANCIAL INSTITUTION.

Defendant agrees that the robbery was committed against U.S. Bank, a financial institution. Brief of Appellant at 7; RP 468-470. RCW 35.38.060 includes "a branch of a bank" in the definition of financial institutions. In August of 2011, U.S. Bank had a branch located in the north Marysville Albertson's grocery store. The branch consisted of three teller lines, an office, a vault room, and an ATM. It was a bank within a store. RP 145, 161, 181-182, 202.

On August 9, 2011, Casey Montgomery and Tyson Farley were working at the U.S. Bank branch in the north Marysville Albertson's when defendant walked up to the teller line, dropped a note in front of Montgomery, placed his hands on the counter and waited there while Montgomery read and responded to the note. After Montgomery read the note, he handed defendant the cash from bank teller drawer and defendant walked away. The incident was captured on video that was admitted as evidence and shown to the jury. Exhibit 4; RP 145-153, 162-165. Clearly, Montgomery was within the U.S. Bank branch at the time of the robbery. Additionally, defendant was in the teller line when he dropped the

note in front of Montgomery standing on the other side of the counter, and waited for Montgomery to hand him the cash from bank teller drawer. Clearly, defendant was within the U.S. Bank branch at the time of the robbery when he unlawfully took cash from Montgomery. A rational trier of fact could find beyond a reasonable doubt the element of the crime, "that defendant committed the robbery within and against a financial institution."

D. PERMITTING THE IN COURT IDENTIFICATION OF DEFENDANT DID NOT VIOLATED DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS.

Defendant argues that the trial court violated his constitutional right to due process by admitting Montgomery's incourt identification of defendant as the robber. Brief of Appellant at 11-30. Defendant contends the process by which Montgomery was asked whether the perpetrator of the robbery was present in the courtroom was unduly suggestive. Defendant cites no legal support for his argument. In fact, prevailing authority is to the contrary. See United States v. Thompson, 524 F.3d 1126, 1136 (10th Cir. 2008) (holding in-court identification procedure not unconstitutionally suggestive where the procedure used allowed the jury to make its own comparison between the appearance of the perpetrator in the videotapes and the defendant's actual

appearance and robber was a black man and defendant was the only black man in the courtroom); <u>United States v. Curtis</u>, 344 F.3d 1057, 1063 (10th Cir.2003) (requiring the defendant to show his gapped teeth to the jury was reasonable in light of the corroborative testimony of the victims); <u>United States v. Davis</u>, 103 F.3d 660, 670 (8th Cir.1996) (there is no constitutional entitlement to an in-court line-up or other particular methods of lessening the suggestiveness of in-court identification); <u>United States v. Robertson</u>, 19 F.3d 1318, 1322 (10th Cir.1994) (requiring the defendant don the cap and dark glasses that had been worn by the bank robber in front of an eyewitness and the jury).

The Supreme Court has recently clarified that due process rights of defendants identified in the courtroom under suggestive circumstances are generally met through the ordinary protections in trial. Perry v. New Hampshire, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 716, 728–729, 181 L.Ed.2d 694 (2013). These protections include the right to confront witnesses; the right to representation of counsel, who may expose flaws in identification testimony on cross-examination and closing argument; the right to jury instructions advising use of care in appraising identification testimony; and the requirement of proof

beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id.</u> Here, many of the safeguards noted in Perry were present in defendant's case.

In light of these authorities, the in-court identification procedure complained of was neither so impermissibly suggestive as to violate defendant's due process rights, nor was the admission of the in-court identification testimony so clearly erroneous as to warrant relief under plain error review.

1. The Out-Of-Court Photographic Identification Procedure Was Not Suggestive.

Prior to trial defendant brought motions to suppress the photo montage identification of defendant made by Montgomery and Farley. CP 92-100. The court heard testimony from Detective Shackleton who showed the photo montages to Montgomery and Farley; considered the actual montages that were viewed by Montgomery and Farley; and the descriptions of the suspect given to the police by Montgomery and Farley. RP (11/19/12) 3-25. The court found that there was nothing unduly suggestive about the photo montages. RP (11/19/12) 25-27.

An out-of-court photographic identification meets due process requirements if it is not so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.

State v. Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d 604, 605, 682 P.2d 878 (1984); State v. Linares, 98 Wn. App. 397, 401, 989 P.2d 591 (1999). To establish a due process violation, defendant must first show that an identification procedure is suggestive. Linares, 98 Wn. App. at 401. The Court in Vaughn, clarified that courts should examine the five reliability factors developed by the United States Supreme Court in Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 53 L.Ed.2d 140 (1977), only if the defendant meets his threshold burden of demonstrating that the identification procedure itself is suggestive. Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d at 608. The Courts noted that the reliability factors were developed to overcome the presumption that identification evidence obtained through a concededly suggestive procedure is automatically inadmissible. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 114; Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d at 607-608. "When there is no evidence of suggestiveness in the photographic identification procedure, the inquiry ends; in such a case, any uncertainty or inconsistency in identification testimony goes only to its weight, not to its admissibility." Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d at 610; State v. Eacret, 94 Wn. App. 282, 285, 971 P.2d 109 (1999). This rationale properly leaves reliability determinations to the jury when no suggestive identification procedures are shown. Linares, 98 Wn. App. at 402.

"[T]he due process clause does not condition admissibility of identification testimony on proof of its reliability." State v. Linares, 98 Wn. App. 397, 403, 989 P.2d 591 (1999). Under ER 602, a witness must testify concerning facts within his personal knowledge. Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d at 611. It is the provenance of the jury to determine what weight should be given to the testimony. Linares, 98 Wn. App. at 403.

Here, defendant does not challenge the trial court's finding that the photo montage shown to Montgomery was not suggestive. Brief of Appellant at 12, n. 2. Unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. State v. Valdez, 167 Wn.2d 761, 767, 224 P.3d 751 (2009), State v. Gaines, 154 Wn.2d 711, 716, 116 P.3d 993 (2005). Defendant has failed to meet his burden of showing that the identification procedure was suggestive. Linares, 98 Wn. App. at 401. Therefore, consideration of the Brathwaite reliability factors is not before the court. Vaughn, 101 Wn.2d at 608. Since due process does not condition admissibility of identification testimony on proof of its reliability, the jury alone decides what weight to give to the testimony of Montgomery's in-court identification of defendant. Linares, 98 Wn. App. at 403.

2. The Claimed Error Must Be A Manifest Error Affecting A Constitutional Right.

At the pre-trial suppression hearing defendant acknowledged that there was no authority prohibiting asking if a witness can make an identification in court, and agreed the issue should be addressed during trial if it comes up. RP (11/19/13) 20-21. The court concluded that the State could ask a witness whether or not the witness can identify a person in court. RP (11/19/12) 27. Defendant did not object to Montgomery's in-court identification at trial. RP 154-160. "[A] litigant cannot remain silent as to claimed error during trial and later, for the first time, urge objections thereto on appeal." State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S.Ct. 1208, 89 L.Ed.2d 321 (1986). Issues not raised below will not be considered on appeal. State v. Danis, 64 Wn. App. 814, 822, 826 P.2d 1096 (1992).

"The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." RAP 2.5(a); State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); State v. Lyskoski, 47 Wn.2d 102, 108, 287 P.2d 114 (1955). The policy of the rule is to "encourag[e] the efficient use of judicial resources.

The appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial." State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). The rule comes from the principle that trial counsel and the defendant are obligated to seek a remedy to errors as they occur, or shortly thereafter. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98.

An exception to the general rule that an assignment of error be preserved is when the claimed error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." RAP 2.5(a)(3); O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98. To raise an error for the first time on appeal, defendant must "identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights at trial." Id.; State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). If the court determines the claim raises a manifest constitutional error, it is still subject to a harmless error analysis. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98; State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) (the exception is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can identify some constitutional issue not raised before the trial court); State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 (1992).

The court does not assume the alleged error is of constitutional magnitude. <u>O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 98; <u>Scott</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 687. The court assess whether the asserted claim, if correct, implicates a constitutional interest as compared to another form of trial error. <u>O'Hara</u>, 167 Wn.2d at 98; <u>Scott</u>, 110 Wn.2d at 689–691.

In instances where the allegation is that the defendant's due process rights were violated because he or she was denied a fair trial, the court will look at the defendant's allegation of a constitutional violation, and the facts alleged by the defendant, to determine whether, if true, the defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial has been violated.

O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 98-99. Defendant has not shown that the identification procedure violated due process. See D, 1, above.

After determining the error is of constitutional magnitude, the court must determine whether the error was manifest. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99. In normal usage, "manifest" means unmistakable, evident or indisputable, as distinct from obscure, hidden or concealed. "Affecting" means having an impact or impinging on; in short, to make a difference. A purely formalistic error is insufficient. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. at 345. "'Manifest' in RAP 2.5(a)(3) requires a showing of actual prejudice." O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99; Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935. To demonstrate actual prejudice, there must be

a plausible showing by defendant that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. Id.

. . . .

A harmless error analysis occurs after the court determines the error is a manifest constitutional error. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99; Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 688.

The determination of whether there is actual prejudice is a different question and involves a different analysis as compared to the determination of whether the error warrants a reversal. In order to ensure the actual prejudice and harmless error analyses are separate, the focus of the actual prejudice must be on whether the error is so obvious on the record that the error warrants appellate review.

O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d at 99-100. Even errors of constitutional magnitude may be so insignificant as to be harmless. Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 21, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967); Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 251-252, 89 S.Ct. 1726, 23 L.Ed.2d 284 (1969). The court applies the overwhelming untainted evidence test. State v. Watt, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635, 160 P.3d 640 (2007); State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 426, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Under this test, the court looks only at the untainted evidence to determine if the untainted evidence is so overwhelming that it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. Watt, 160 Wn.2d at 636.

3. The Untainted Evidence Satisfies The Harmless Error Test.

. •••

Here, the evidence shows the perpetrator walked up to the teller line, dropped a note in front of Montgomery, and waited while Montgomery read and responded to the note. The perpetrator was wearing a dark hat. After Montgomery read the note, he handed defendant the cash from bank's teller drawer and the perpetrator The incident was captured on video that was walked away. admitted as evidence and shown to the jury. Exhibit 4; RP 145-153. 162-165. Farley, Montgomery's co-worker, identified defendant as the robber. RP 165-175. The note was examined for latent fingerprints and prints matching defendant's left thumb and index finger were identified on the note. RP 188-189, 305, 320-When shown photos from the video, people living with 325. defendant at the time of the robbery identified him as the robber. RP 215-216, 232-233, 284. A dark hat containing defendant's DNA was located where defendant had resided around the time of the robbery. RP 233-234, 262-270, 285-286, 439, 456-461. Additionally, a letter defendant attempted to send from jail to Aaron Stickney was intercepted. In the letter defendant indicted that Stickney was his accomplice in the robbery. RP 352-353, 383-385, 431-436.

Here, even without Montgomery's in-court identification of defendant, overwhelming untainted evidence establishes that defendant was the robber. Because overwhelming untainted evidence establishes the fact that the State sought to prove with Montgomery's in-court identification, the admission of that evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Watt, 160 Wn.2d at 640.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the appeal should be denied and defendant's conviction affirmed.